68429.9

SEP 28 2012

King County Prosecutor Appellate Unit

NO. 68429-9-I

110. 00427-7
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
DONALD HAROLD,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY The Honorable Michael Hayden, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER L. DOBSON DANA M. NELSON Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA +98122 (206) 623-2373

A.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
	<u>Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error</u>
B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Procedural History
	2. Substantive Facts3
	3. Facts Pertaining to "Other Suspect" Defense
C.	ARGUMENT 9
	I. DONALD WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE WHEN THE TRIAL COURT EXCLUDED REVERSE 404(b) EVIDENCE THAT CONSISTED OF LEON'S PRIOR ASSAULTS AGAINST OTHERS
	II. DONALD WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE WHEN THE TRIAL COURT EXCLUDED EVIDENCE THAT LEON REPORTED HAVING COMMAND HALLUCINATIONS TELLING HIM TO HURT AND KILL OTHERS
	III. DONALD'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS, WHICH AFFIRMATIVELY MISLED THE JURY ABOUT ITS POWER TO ACQUIT
D.	CONCLUSION 45

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES
Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S. 171 Wn.2d 695, 257 P.3d 570 (2011)
Hartigan v. Washington Territory 1 Wash.Terr. 447 (1874)
<u>Leonard v. Territory</u> 2 Wash.Terr. 381, 7 Pac. 872 (Wash.Terr.1885) 2, 34, 35, 40, 41, 44
Miller v. Territory 3 Wash.Terr. 554, 19 P. 50 (Wash.Terr.1888)
<u>State v. Black</u> 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)
<u>State v. Boogaard</u> 90 Wn.2d 733, 585 P.2d 789 (1978)
<u>State v. Christiansen</u> 161 Wash. 530, 297 P. 151 (1931)
<u>State v. Darden</u> 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)
<u>State v. Downs</u> 168 Wash. 664, 13 P.2d 1 (1932)
<u>State v. Fuller</u> Wn. App, 282 P.3d 126 (2012)
<u>State v. Gallegos</u> 65 Wn. App. 230, 828 P.2d 37
State v. Green 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page State v. Gresham State v. Gunwall State v. Herzog State v. Hobble State v. Hudlow State v. Kitchen Meggyesy State v. Ortiz State v. Primrose State v. Reed State v. Rehak State v. Russell State v. Salazar

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page State v. Silva State v. Smith State v. Strasburg State v. Young White v. Territory FEDERAL CASES Agushi v. Duerr Chambers v. Mississippi Duncan v. Louisiana Glados, Inc. v. Reliance Ins. Co. Holmes v. South Carolina 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)................. 23, 35, 37 Jackson v. Virginia 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)........ 20, 21, 22, 40 Michelson v. United States

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page Neder v. United States Pasco v. Mace Sullivan v. Louisiana U.S. v. Aboumoussallem U.S. v. Gonzalez-Sanchez U.S. v. McCourt U.S. v. Montelongo U.S. v. Murray U.S. v. Phillips United States v. Cohen United States v. Garaway United States v. Gaudin United States v. Krezdorn

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page United States v. Lucas United States v. McClure United States v. Moylan United States v. Powell United States v. Roark United States v. Seals United States v. Stevens United States v. Williams Washington v. Texas Wynne v. Renico OTHER JURISDICTIONS Bushell's Case State v. Hedge

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES 1 J. Weinstein & M. Berger 1A Wigmore 5 K. Tegland Alschuler & Deiss A Brief History of the Criminal Jury in the United States (1994)............ 38 C. Wright & K. Miller Charles Wigmore Wigmore's Code of the Rules of Evidence in Trials at Law §§ 355-56 Hon. Robert F. Utter Freedom and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and the Washington Declaration of Rights (1984). 32, 34, 36 Utter & Pitler "Presenting a State Constitutional Argument: Comment on Theory and

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
ER 404
FRE 401
FRE 403
FRE 404
Reverse 404 1, 7, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27
Rule 404
U.S. Const. amend. V
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. VII
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
U.S. Const. art. III § 2
Wash. Const. art. I, § 3
Wash. Const. art. I, § 9.10
Wash. Const. art. I, § 21
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22
Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16
WPIC 160.0041

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant was denied his right to present a complete defense when the trial court excluded his proffered reverse 404(b) evidence.
- Appellant was denied his right to present a complete defense when the trial court excluded evidence relevant to his "other suspect" defense.
- Appellant was denied his right to a jury trial where the "toconvict" instructions erroneously stated the jury had a "duty to return a verdict of guilty" if it found each element proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Does the accused have a constitutional right to present reverse 404(b) evidence in support of his "other suspect" defense, where that evidence is relevant under ER 401 and is more probative than prejudicial under ER 403?

¹ "Reverse 404(b) evidence" is evidence offered by a defendant regarding a third-party's misconduct. It is most often introduced to establish that someone other than the defendant has committed the offense. <u>United</u> States v. Stevens, 935 F.2d 1380, 1383, 1402 (3d Cir.1991).

- 2. Does a defendant charged with first degree assault have a constitutional right to present evidence that the "other suspect" in the case reported hearing voices commanding him to hurt and kill people, where that evidence was relevant and more probative than prejudicial?
- 3. In a criminal trial, does a "to-convict" instruction, which informs the jury it has a duty to return a verdict of guilty if it finds the elements have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, violate a defendant's right to a jury trial when there is no such duty under the state and federal Constitutions?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On January 12, 2011, the King County prosecutor charged appellant Harold Donald with one count of first degree assault, one count of attempted robbery in the first degree, and one count of possession of a stolen vehicle. CP 1-7. On January 18, 2011, the information was amended to add co-defendant Leonard Leon.² CP 8-14. Due to competency issues, the case was not brought to trial until January 23,

² Pursuant to a plea deal, however, Leon pled guilty to attempted robbery prior to trial. 3RP 11.

2012. CP 17-23, 24-45; 1RP.³ On January 23, 2012, the information was amended again with the State adding a rapid recidivism aggravator. CP 69-71. A jury found Donald guilty as charged. CP120-24. He was sentenced to an exceptional sentence of 397 months. CP 130-39.

Substantive Facts

At 3:15 a.m. on December 17, 2010, King County Sheriff deputies responded to a 911 call from the Autumn Ridge Apartments in Shoreline, Washington. 6RP 11-13, 56. Officers observed a naked, bloody man lying in the grass. 6RP 13, 16, 20. Medics responded and took the man to the hospital where it was determined that he had a lacerated spleen, several fractured ribs, fractured orbital and facial bones, a serious head injury, and a fractured foot. 6RP 21; 8RP 49-62.

Officers investigated a blood trail that led to a Jeep Cherokee parked under the apartment carport. 6RP 23. There was evidence the car had been broken into. 6RP 37. Officers determined the car belonged to Gordon McWhirter. 6RP 67-68. They went to McWhirter's apartment and awoke his wife, Sandra McWhirter (Sandra). 6RP 88-89; 10 RP 12.

³ The transcripts are referred to as follows: 1RP – January 23, 2012; 2RP – January 24; 3RP – January 25; 4RP – January 26; 5RP – January 30; 6RP – January 31; 7RP – February 1; 8RP – February 2; 9RP – February 6; 10RP – February 7;11RP – February 8; 12RP – February 9; 13RP – February 9; 14RP – February 24.

From Sandra, officers learned McWhirter had woken up at approximately 1:30 a.m. and said he was going to pay a dental bill online and then go out to the patio to smoke a cigarette because he could not sleep. 10RP 13, 15.⁴ From the patio, the McWhirters could see their covered parking spot. 10RP 16. McWhirter was wearing a distinctive robe. 10RP 14. When Sandra and an officer checked the computer, they saw it was showed only a screen saver with no internet connection having been made. 10RP 17.

Officers processed the Jeep for fingerprints and blood evidence.

7RP 13-14. Fingerprint analysis showed both Leon's and Donald's prints were on the passenger side exterior door and doorframe. 7RP 143-48.

Leon's prints were found on the passenger window. RP 149-50.

Additionally, an ignition part had a blood drop that belonged to Leon.

7RP 96; 8RP 144.

Detective Christina Bartlett contacted Donald's mother Cheryl Skillings who eventually turned over a robe matching that worn by McWhirter. 7RP 100-02; 9RP 171. She said Donald had given it to her. 7RP 100-02; 9RP 171.

After locating Donald in jail, Bartlett took his clothes (which had

⁴ McWhirter never remembered what happened to him. 10RP 6.

been stored together in a mesh bag during booking), and had them and the robe tested for DNA. 7RP 81-88. These items were all photographed on the detective's desk before being submitted for testing. 9RP 63. A small amount of DNA matching that of McWhirter was found on Donald's boot and jeans. 10RP 53, 63.

At trial, Donald's sister, Shakesha Donald (Shakesha), testified Donald and Leon came to her Sea-Tac hotel room at 4:00 p.m. on December 16, 2010. 9RP 147. Shakesha was with her friend Donnie, who lived in the same complex as the McWhirters. 9RP 148-49. She asked Leon for a ride. 9RP 151, 153. Leon drove them all to Shoreline, where Shakesha was dropped off and Donnie driven home. 9RP 154, 156.

Jade Jahmorris, Leon's girlfriend, testified that she met Leon at 10:30 a.m. on December 17, 2010. 9RP 96. He was driving a white car. 9RP 102. She noted his pants were very dirty. 9RP 103. She said Leon gave Donald the keys to the white car. ⁵

Shirley Skillings (Shirley), Donald's grandmother, told officers that Donald had came to visit her on the evening of December 17, 2010. 9RP 127. She said he asked for spray and wash for his pants. 9RP 132. She also said Donald told her that he had blood on his pants because he

⁵ Jahmorris testified that Leon had previously assaulted her and she was afraid of him retaliating against her for testifying. 9RP 104.

had stomped someone. 9RP 133. However, Shirley did not make this statement until after she was questioned by Bartlett for a period of time, prior to the tape-recorded interview. 10 RP 140. Shirley felt Bartlett was trying to confuse her and cause her to say things that were not true. 10RP 140.

On December 20, 2010, officers located a white Dodge Dynasty that had been abandoned. 8RP 10; 9RP 117. It had been reported stolen on December 16, 2010. 8RP 13. Reportedly, Donald was seen driving a car that matched the description of that car on the evening of December 17, 2010. 9RP 135, 166-68. Donald told his mother Leon sold the car to him. 9RP 168.

3. Facts Pertaining to "Other Suspect" Defense

Prior to trial, the defense moved to put forth an "other suspect" defense that would establish Leon alone perpetrated the crimes against McWhirter. Supp. CP __ (sub no. 115 – "Motion to Admit Prior Bad Acts, Mental Health Status, and Statements of Lorenzo Leon"). The defense argued Leon had motive, opportunity, and the ability to have committed the crime. Appendix A at 2-13. In support of his "other suspect" defense, Donald sought to introduce Leon's criminal history, his mental health status, and his statement that he was experiencing command

⁶ The motion is attached as appendix A.

hallucinations. Appendix A.

As for Leon's prior criminal convictions – which included numerous assaults and an attempted robbery – the defense argued they should be admitted as reverse 404(b) evidence. Appendix A 4-10. The defense explained that ER 404(b) does not apply to such evidence; instead the court should apply a relevance/prejudice balancing test under ER 401 and ER 403. Appendix A at 4-8. Despite the fact that this was propensity evidence, the defense argued it was still relevant and not overly prejudicial to the State. Appendix A at 4-8; 2RP 160-163.

The defense also sought to admit evidence suggesting Leon was faking mental illness to avoid being fully punished for his crime. The defense proffered jail calls and Leon's statements to jail staff, which suggested Leon strategized about faking a mental illness to avoid a lengthy sentence. Appendix A at 18-20. The defense also offered an opinion from Dr. Brian Judd that there was ample evidence from which one could conclude Leon was faking his mental illness for personal benefit. Appendix A at 20. Defense counsel argued this was relevant to show Leon's consciousness of guilt. Appendix A at 21-22.

Finally, the defense sought to introduce evidence that Leon reported experiencing hallucinations that compel him to hurt and kill others. Appendix A at 23-24. The defense wanted the opportunity to

argue that Leon was either faking his mental illness (showing consciousness of guilt) or was indeed experiencing hallucinations compelling him to commit violent acts. 2RP 177.

The trial court permitted the defense to raise an "other suspect defense." 3RP 12. However, it denied the defense's request to introduce Leon's criminal history on the ground that it was unfairly prejudicial to the State, because the State was barred under ER 404(b) from introducing Donald's criminal history. 2RP 164, 193. The trial court concluded 404(b) applies, regardless of which party is introducing the evidence. 2RP 171.

The trial court permitted the defense to present some mental health evidence establishing Leon was faking his mental illness. However, the trial court excluded evidence that Leon was experiencing command hallucinations under ER 403, reasoning it did not want to get into a minicompetency trial to determine whether Leon was faking his mental illness when he talked about his hallucinations. 2RP 194; 3RP 12-14, 19.

C. ARGUMENT

I. DONALD WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE WHEN THE TRIAL COURT EXCLUDED REVERSE 404(b) EVIDENCE THAT CONSISTED OF LEON'S PRIOR ASSAULTS AGAINST OTHERS.⁷

Donald sought to introduce reverse 404(b) evidence in support of his defense, arguing the proper inquiry to determine its admissibility is to apply a relevancy/prejudice balancing test under ER 401 and ER 403, rather than the traditional ER 404(b) inquiry. The trial court excluded the evidence under ER 404(b). 2RP 171, 193. Thus, the essential question here is whether ER 404(b) applies when evidence is offered by a defendant In support of his "other suspect" defense or whether a straightforward relevancy/prejudice inquiry applies. This is an issue of first impression in Washington.

⁷ Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. <u>Bellevue School Dist. v.</u> <u>E.S.</u>, 171 Wn.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011).

⁸ A traditional 404(b) inquiry requires the trial court to: (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred; (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced; (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged; and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 422, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Additionally, it requires the exclusion of all propensity evidence. State v. Fuller, ___ Wn. App. ___, 282 P.3d 126, 142-43 (2012).

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, and article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, and guarantee a defendant the right to defend against the State's allegations. This is a fundamental element of due process. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297, 93 S. Ct. 1038 (1973); Washington v. Texas, 338 U.S. 14, 19, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019, 87 S. Ct. 1920 (1967).

The constitutional right to present a defense permits a criminal defendant "to advance any evidence that, first, rationally tends to disprove

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed . . . and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides, "[N]or shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against him face to face, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is charged to have been committed and the right to appeal in all cases...

⁹ The Sixth Amendment provides:

¹⁰ Article 1, § 22 provides:

his guilt, and second, passes the Rule 403 balancing test." Stevens, 935 F.2d at 1406. Thus, this constitutional right is subject only to the following: (1) the evidence sought to be admitted must be relevant; and (2) the relevant evidence must be balanced against the State's compelling interest in precluding evidence so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process. See Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. at 16; State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); State v. Gallegos, 65 Wn. App. 230, 236-37, 828 P.2d 37.

At least one Washington Court has held the defendant's right to present a defense includes the right to present reverse 404(b) evidence when it is relevant to show someone other than the defendant was responsible for the crime. State v. Young, 48 Wn. App. 406, 412-13, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987). Because Young framed the issue as a traditional ER 404(b) question, however, that court never reached the issue presented here: whether reverse 404(b) evidence is subject to a relaxed standard of admissibility and, if so, what is that standard?

Although the issue presented here is one of first impression in Washington, there is a substantial body of case law from federal circuit courts and other state courts addressing the issue. Because Washington's

The case never used the term "reverse 404(b)." However, it involved evidence of a third party's prior bad acts proffered by the defendant.

404(b) rule is substantially the same as the federal version, interpretation of FRE 404(b) is instructive. State v. Herzog, 73 Wn. App. 34, 49, 867 P.2d 648 (1994).

Federal circuit courts have developed two approaches for determining the admissibility of reverse 404(b) evidence. The majority of circuits hold ER 404(b) does not apply when the evidence is offered by a defendant in support of his defense; instead a straightforward balancing of the evidence's probative value against considerations such as undue waste of time and confusion of the issues is applied.¹³ These courts find the

¹² Reliance on federal decisions is also appropriate since Donald is raising an issue pertaining to his right to present a defense under both the federal and state constitutions.

¹³ This approach is adhered to by the First, Second, Fifth, Seventh, Tenth and Eleventh Circuits. United States v. Seals, 419 F.3d 600, 606-07 (7th Cir.2005) (holding courts must balance the evidence's probative value under FRE 401 against considerations such as prejudice, undue waste of time, and confusion of the issues under FRE 403)*; U.S. v. Montelongo, 420 F.3d 1169 (10th Cir. 2005) (same); U.S. v. Gonzalez-Sanchez, 825 F.2d 572, 583 (1st Cir.1987) (same); Glados, Inc. v. Reliance Ins. Co., 888 F.2d 1309, 1311 (11th Cir. 1987) (holding that Rule 404(b) did not apply and instead applying a relevance/prejudice balancing approach); U.S. v. Aboumoussallem, 726 F.2d 906 (2d Cir.1984) (same); United States v. Krezdorn, 639 F.2d 1327 (5th Cir.1981) (concluding that 404(b)'s prohibition on propensity evidence does not apply when the evidence will not impugn the defendant's character); see also, Wynne v. Renico, 606 F.3d 867, 874 (6th Circuit 2010) (Martin, J. concurring) (departing from the majority on grounds that reverse 404(b) evidence is not subject to 404(b)'s exclusion of propensity evidence); United States v. Lucas, 357 F.3d 599, 605 (6th Cir. 2004) (Rosen J. concurring) (same).

traditional 404(b) analysis does not apply because the policy reasons behind the rule are considerably weakened when the defense seeks to submit this type of evidence. Consequently, they hold the defendant's right to present a defense trumps the evidence rule. In contrast, a minority of circuits hold FRE 404(b) applies to all parties regardless of whether the evidence is being offered to support an accused's defense.¹⁴

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