68429.9

68429-9

NO. 68429-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

HAROLD DONALD,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE MICHAEL HAYDEN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ERIN H. BECKER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Donald's attempt to prove Leon's propensity for violence through his prior convictions was properly excluded, as Donald had no admissible evidence to prove Leon's character.

Second, the trial court excluded the evidence of Leon's prior convictions not just under ER 404(b), but also under ER 403. That rule provides: "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

Here, the trial court recognized that Donald was offering Leon's prior criminal history in order to argue that Leon had a propensity for

¹⁵ If the person testifies at trial, additional avenues of proving character may be available, such as through cross-examination on specific instances of misconduct, or impeachment with prior convictions if relevant to credibility. <u>See</u> ER 608(b), 609. Again, Leon did not testify.

violence and thus was more likely to have committed the assault and attempted robbery of McWhirter than Donald was. 2RP 163-64. But the court also observed that Donald's criminal history showed him to be at least as violent as Leon. 2RP 163-64; CP 49. Due to ER 404(b), however, the jury would never hear about Donald's criminal history. Accordingly, the court held that arguing that the jury should compare Leon and Donald and conclude that Leon was the sole perpetrator because of his violent nature would be misleading. Because the jury would not hear evidence of Donald's convictions, it would be misled into believing no such evidence existed, and thus incorrectly infer that Donald was not violent, so Leon was more likely to have committed the offenses. 2RP 162-74. Balancing the misleading nature of Donald's evidence against the limited probative value of Leon's prior criminal convictions – especially in view of the fact that Leon's criminal history did not exculpate Donald or rationally lead to a conclusion that the crimes were committed by a single perpetrator – the evidence was properly excludable pursuant to ER 403.16 The trial court did not abuse its discretion in so ruling.

1

¹⁶ See <u>United States v. Nobles</u>, 422 U.S. 225, 241, 95 S. Ct. 2160, 45 L. Ed. 2d 141 (1975) ("The Sixth Amendment does not confer the right to present testimony free from the legitimate demands of the adversarial system; one cannot invoke the Sixth Amendment as a justification for presenting what might have been a half-truth.").

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED EVIDENCE THAT LEON SAID HE WAS HEARING VOICES THAT TOLD HIM TO HURT OTHER PEOPLE.

Donald complains that the trial court erred in excluding his proffered evidence that Leon had experienced command hallucinations to fight or kill other people. However, the trial court permitted Donald to offer significant other evidence in support of his other-suspect defense. In particular, the court allowed evidence that Leon was intentionally malingering in order to escape responsibility for his role in the crimes against McWhirter. The court then excluded evidence of marginal relevance – Leon's claimed hallucinations seven months after the crime – because of its low probative value and its likelihood of confusing the jury and prolonging the trial. This was not an abuse of discretion.

As discussed above, ER 403 permits a court to exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of confusion of the issues or by considerations of undue delay and waste of time. Further, a trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d at 308. And, the right to present a defense does not include a right to present evidence despite the rules of evidence. See section C.1.b.i, supra.

At trial, Donald sought to offer evidence that Leon was "faking" his mental illness (i.e., malingering) as evidence of his guilty conscience in support of his other-suspect defense. CP 205-08; 2RP 175-76. The defense proposed to prove that Leon was malingering through the testimony of Dr. Brian Judd, who evaluated Leon for court proceedings and determined he was malingering and competent, and through Leon's own statements, made primarily in recorded jail phone calls to his mother. 17 CP 205, 207; 2RP 175-76. At the same time, Donald sought to introduce evidence that Leon was hearing voices that told him to hurt himself and others (i.e., auditory command hallucinations). CP 208-09; 2RP 176-77. Donald intended to use such evidence – also offered through Dr. Judd and through Joann Johnson, another evaluator – again to show that Leon alone was responsible for the crimes against McWhirter. CP 208-09; 2RP 176-78, 191. Donald also acknowledged that Leon's mental health status was "unclear." CP 203, 205; 2RP 176-77. Either he was genuinely mentally ill (although there appears to be little evidence to support such a position), or he was malingering.

The trial court permitted Donald to offer the bulk of the evidence he sought to use. Specifically, the court admitted, as evidence of his

¹⁷ Donald told the trial court that there were "hundreds of jail calls" from Leon that supported his theory that Leon was malingering. 2RP 190. He offered only four. Ex. 58.

consciousness of guilt, Leon's plea of guilty¹⁸ and his jail phone calls prior to his guilty plea "where he references the amount of prison he's facing and suggest[s] he might want to feign symptoms or somehow manipulate the system in order to reduce that amount of time." 3RP 11-12. The court also permitted evidence that Leon in fact was ordered to undergo a competency evaluation. 3RP 19-23.

However, the court excluded any expert testimony regarding whether Leon was in fact mentally ill or was instead malingering, and excluded evidence that he was experiencing command hallucinations.

3RP 12-13. In reaching this decision, the court primarily relied on ER 403, concluding that such evidence had limited probative value, as the evaluations and statements at issue occurred after Leon pled guilty, and that the danger of confusion of the issues and waste of time substantially outweighed their minimal probative value. ¹⁹ 3RP 12-19.

¹⁸ As a tactical choice, Donald elected not to use Leon's guilty plea. 3RP 11.

¹⁹ The court heard argument over two days, and made a lengthy and detailed ruling regarding which evidence he was admitting or excluding, and why. The heart of the court's ruling with respect to the evidence of Leon's command hallucinations can be found at 3RP 13:

I don't want this case to devolve into trying Mr. Leon's current mental state. That's distracting and I think it gets the jury away from the point that they're supposed to address in this case, which is who committed the offense in this case. And I'm making that ruling under [Evidence Rule] 403 that it just goes too far afield.

And I'm not going to allow the defense to get into Mr. Leon's delusions or lack of delusions because it's going to get into medical records and psychological records where the debate of the expert is to whether these statements were delusional or malingering or whatever.

On appeal, Donald challenges only the exclusion of Leon's claims that he was experiencing command hallucinations. The trial court's ruling should be upheld, because it was an appropriate exercise of judicial discretion.

First, the court admitted substantial evidence that enabled Donald to argue his theory of the case that Leon was the sole perpetrator of the crime. The court allowed Donald to offer evidence of Leon's guilty conscience, in the form of phone calls to his mother in which Leon frets about the amount of time he thought he was facing for his crimes and schemed about faking a mental illness in order to get a reduced sentence or outright dismissal. Ex. 58. The court permitted Donald to show that Leon acted on his plan, by obtaining an order for a competency evaluation. 3RP 19-23. And, the trial court allowed him to offer evidence that Leon was in fact guilty of the crime, in that he pled guilty to attempting to rob McWhirter. 3RP 11-12. Excluding the additional fact that Leon claimed to have had command hallucinations to hurt others did not impact Donald's ability to argue his theory that Leon acted alone.

²⁰ Other suspect evidence may properly be admitted when the proponent shows that the evidence connecting another person with the crime charged creates a chain of facts or circumstances that clearly point to someone other than the defendant as the guilty party, establishing a nexus between the other suspect and the crime. <u>E.g., State v. Howard, 127</u> Wn. App. 862, 866, 113 P.3d 511 (2005). There is no question that standard was met in this case with respect to Leon, as the State charged Leon with the crime and he pled guilty to Attempted Robbery in the First Degree. The defense theory was that Leon acted alone; the State's theory was that Leon and Donald were accomplices.

Second, Leon's claim that he heard voices telling him to hurt people was of limited relevance. The statements were apparently made in July 2011, seven months after the offense. 3RP 13-15. There was no offer of proof that Leon was experiencing these hallucinations close in time to the crime. Indeed, there is scant evidence that Leon was experiencing these hallucinations at all; Dr. Judd concluded that he was faking his mental illness in order to avoid responsibility for the offenses. CP 226. Because there was no evidence that Leon was hearing voices telling him to hurt people at the time that he and Donald assaulted and tried to rob McWhirter, any testimony that Leon claimed to hear such voices seven months later was of limited relevance, at best.

Third, the court correctly concluded that admitting Leon's claim that he had experienced command hallucinations would have been confusing to the jury and a waste of time. As the court articulated, if Donald called Dr. Judd to testify that Leon had said he heard voices that told him to harm others, the State would have been permitted to cross-examine Dr. Judd as to the context in which those statements were made. 3RP 13-14. By the time he claimed to have heard voices, Leon had already pled guilty to the attempted robbery and had agreed to testify against Donald. CP 229-31, 243. The State would thus be entitled to establish that Leon was faking the auditory hallucinations not to avoid

responsibility for his crimes, but to avoid testifying against his friend Donald while still maintaining the benefit of his bargain with the State. This would entail offering evidence that Leon had pled guilty and agreed to testify against Donald (evidence that Donald wanted to avoid, 3RP 11), testimony from Dr. Judd about the purpose for and content of his evaluation of Leon, Judd's opinion that Leon was malingering, and other testimony about Leon's attempts to avoid fulfilling his end of the plea agreement, such as refusing interviews with the prosecution and Donald's defense team. CP 226, 229-31, 243-45. As other doctors also evaluated Leon, either party could conceivably admit evidence of their opinions as well. Ultimately, the testimony Donald wanted to admit would result in confusing, contradictory, and lengthy expert testimony regarding the mental state of a person who was not only not on trial, but not even expected to testify.

In context, then, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the risk of confusion of the issues and the waste of time outweighed Donald's need for evidence of minimal relevance. During pretrials, Donald indicated he wanted to argue both that Leon was

²¹ The State could also have chosen to take the opportunity to offer the evidence it had of Donald's own deceitfulness during his competency evaluation as evidence of his consciousness of guilt. See CP 35 (Donald told evaluators he did not know his own mother's name); CP 36 (Donald claimed he experienced command hallucinations himself, but was evasive about the details).

malingering and that he was not. 2RP 177. That alone is confusing. Further, if Leon was faking the command hallucinations, there was no need to admit them; there was already ample other evidence that Leon intended to malinger and attempted to carry out his plan.²² To the extent that Donald wanted to show that Leon was in fact experiencing command hallucinations, these were remote in time from the crime, would provoke rebuttal evidence from the State and a mini-trial on the issue of whether Leon was malingering, and would improperly bring in through the back door propensity evidence forbidden by ER 404(b). The trial court's balancing of these competing interests, and decision to exclude the evidence, was reasonable and should not be disturbed on appeal.

3. DONALD HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE PATTERN "TO CONVICT" JURY INSTRUCTIONS ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

On appeal, Donald claims for the first time that the trial court's "to convict" instructions misstated the law and violated his right to a jury trial under the state and federal constitutions.²³ Specifically, Donald contends that the following language misstates the law:

²² See Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 182-84, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997) (holding that a trial court should evaluate whether to exclude evidence pursuant to FRE 403 in the context of the probative value and prejudicial effect of "evidentiary alternatives" available to prove the same point).

²³ The language challenged mirrors the pattern jury instructions. <u>Compare</u> CP 89, 96, 100 <u>with</u> WPICs 35.04, 35.13 and 37.02.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 89, 96, 100.²⁴ Donald asserts that the court should instead have instructed the jury that it "may" convict upon a finding of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. CONST. AMEND. VII; Washington Const. art. I, § 21; Leonard v. Territory, 2 Wash. Terr. 381, 399, 7 P. 872 (1885).

This Court rejected this same argument over fourteen years ago.

State v. Meggyesy, 90 Wn. App. 693, 958 P.2d 319, rev. denied, 136

Wn.2d 1028 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Recuenco,

154 Wn.2d 156, 110 P.3d 188 (2005). Since Meggyesy, every court to

consider the issue has adhered to its reasoning, and the Washington

Supreme Court has repeatedly denied review. Donald acknowledges the

precedent, but argues Meggyesy was wrongly decided. Yet, under the

principles of stare decisis, a court will not overturn a prior holding unless

²⁴ In his brief, Donald objects to the language in the "to-convict" instructions found at CP 89 (Assault in the First Degree), 96 (lesser included offense of Assault in the Second Degree), and 107 (Possession of a Stolen Vehicle). As Donald was acquitted of Possession of a Stolen Vehicle, but convicted of Attempted Robbery in the First Degree, the State assumes that Donald intended to challenge the jury instruction found at CP 100, not CP 107.

See, e.g., State v. Fleming, 140 Wn. App. 132, 170 P.3d 50 (2007), rev. denied, 163
 Wn.2d 1047 (2008); State v. Brown, 130 Wn. App. 767, 124 P.3d 663 (2005); State v. Bonisisio, 92 Wn. App. 783, 964 P.2d 1222 (1998), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1024 (1999).

it is shown by clear evidence that it is incorrect and harmful. See In re

Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970) ("The doctrine

[of stare decisis] requires a clear showing that an established rule is
incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned."). Donald makes no new
arguments sufficient to meet this burden. Further, he failed to preserve
any error for appellate review.

a. Rule Of Appellate Procedure 2.5(a) Precludes Appellate Review.

Donald failed to preserve the jury instruction issue for appellate review. "Failure to object deprives the trial court of [its] opportunity to prevent or cure the error." State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). An instructional error not objected to below may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686-87, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). A reviewing court will not assume that an error is of constitutional magnitude. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98-99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). The court will look to the asserted claim and assess whether it implicates a constitutional interest as compared to another form of trial error. Id.

An error is manifest if it resulted in actual prejudice. To demonstrate actual prejudice, there must be a "plausible showing by the

[appellant] that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 135 (alteration in original).

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